A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Jordan Portch, through his attorney, asks this Court to review the 

decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Portch seeks review of the Court of Appeals' opinion in State of 

Washington v. Jordan J. Portch, No. 68421-3-I (Slip Op. filed September 30, 

2013). A copy of the opinion is attached as an Appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. The right to counsel is guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution and article I, section 22. The effective 

assistance of counsel includes the use of the services of defense investigators, 

who share a confidential relationship with defense counsel and clients. Did 

the trial court's decision allowing the State to call the defense investigator as 

a prosecution witness violate Mr. Portch's right to counsel, and was the Court 

of Appeals decision affirming the conviction thus in conflict with another 

decision of the Court of Appeals, and with decisions of this Court, requiring 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)? 

2. The attorney-client privilege exists in order to allow a client to 

communicate freely with an attorney without fear of compulsory discovery. 

Where the former defense investigator was called as a State's witness at trial, 

despite his confidential knowledge of the defense case, did this violate Mr. 
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Portch's attorney-client privilege, and does the Court of Appeals decision 

require review under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (2)? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Factual Background 

In January 2011, Jordan Portch was charged with a residential 

burglary that occurred at the home of his former girlfriend, who resided with 

her parents in Lynnwood. RP 80-84, 95. Mr. Portch had previously lived 

with the family, and according to the girlfriend's mother, was found in the 

home next to a broken glass door, although nothing was taken from the 

home. RP 80-84, 92-94. 1 

Mr. Portch always denied entering the home of his girlfriend on the 

date of the burglary, and the only non-family civilian to testify- a neighbor 

walking her dog who claimed to have seen a man run past her and get into a 

waiting car- identified someone else in a photo array. RP 144, 173-79. 

Mr. Portch was charged with residential burglary. CP 101-02. He 

denied the charges, maintaining he had an alibi. CP 93-94. 

2. Trial Preparation 

In September 2011, approximately eight months after the burglary at 

the Gates home, the case was scheduled for trial. RP 196. In preparing Mr. 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings consists of two consecutively paginated 
volumes from proceedings between November 14,2011, and February 28, 2012. 
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Partch's defense, defense investigator Joel Martin, who was employed by 

the Snohomish County Public Defender Association (PDA), conducted an 

investigation. RP 149-52. During the investigation it was revealed that 

seven months after the burglary, Mr. Portch had gone to an auto body shop 

to have an estimate performed for some repairs on his car. RP 190-95. He 

never had the repairs performed. RP 210. 

On September 15, 2011, the week before the first trial date, Mr. 

Portch had asked to have the body shop estimate deleted from the store's 

computer system. RP 208, 226-28. Mr. Portch allegedly told the body shop 

owner that he was instructed by his attorney to have the estimate deleted; 

therefore, the Snohomish County PDA cited a conflict of interest and asked 

to be removed from the case before trial. RP 29. The trial court agreed, 

noting that defense counsel could not argue to the jury that his office had no 

role in the tampering allegation, which would undercut his client's 

credibility, and if the attorney conceded responsibility, "it undercuts 

everybody's credibility on the defense side." RP 29. 

Mr. Portch was appointed new counsel and proceeded to trial 

approximately one month later. The State also amended the information to 

include one misdemeanor count of tampering with physical evidence and 

one misdemeanor count of tampering with a witness. CP 48-49. Mr. 
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Portch's new counsel moved for severance of the tampering counts and 

objected to improper joinder, which were denied. RP 40-44, 54; CP 58-61. 

In the interim, the State had also added former defense investigator 

Joel Martin to its witness list. RP 65. Mr. Portch's new counsel moved in 

limine to preclude the State from calling Mr. Martin as a prosecution 

witness. RP 65, 118. Both Mr. Portch's new defense counsel and the 

director of the Snohomish County PDA objected to the State's efforts to 

subpoena Mr. Martin, based on attorney-client privilege and work product. 

RP 118-28. The Snohomish County PDA argued that under Rule of 

Professional Conduct 1.6 and RPC 5.3, his office maintained an ethical 

obligation to Mr. Portch in perpetuity. RP 123. He argued that the defense 

investigator's communications with prior counsel were protected by the 

work product doctrine, and those with Mr. Portch, by attorney-client 

privilege. RP 124. Mr. Portch maintained that he had not opened the door 

to the use of any of these statements. RP 125-26. 

The trial court denied the defense motion to exclude the 

investigator's testimony and allowed the State to call Mr. Martin. RP 129-

32, 149-79. 

3. Trial 

At trial, investigator Martin testified for the State, over defense 

objection, regarding the interviews he had conducted while he was assigned 
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to the case. RP 154. He also testified about the measurements and 

photographs he had prepared, his examination of Mr. Portch's odometer, 

and his preparation ofthe photo montage for the eye-witness. RP 156-79. 

Mr. Portch presented an alibi defense through his friend Ryan 

Danekas, who testified that the two were together on January 14, 2011, for 

the entire day. RP 248. Mr. Danekas described his activities with Mr. 

Portch that day, and shared an electronic banking receipt indicating the 

purchase of a soft drink from the comer store near his own home at 

approximately the same time as the burglary at the Gates home. RP 256-58. 

Following the State's presentation of evidence, the trial court 

dismissed the tampering with a witness count as insufficient. RP 244. The 

jury convicted Mr. Portch of residential burglary and tampering with 

physical evidence. CP 23-25; RP 298-300. 

On appeal, Mr. Portch argued that the trial court violated his right to 

counsel by permitting the State to call the defense investigator as a witness; 

that the trial court violated the attorney-client privilege and the work product 

doctrine; and that the trial court erred in permitting joinder of the burglary 

and tampering counts and denying the motion for severance. He seeks 

review of this Court exclusively on the right to counsel and attorney-client 

privilege issues. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). 
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E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT PERMITTED 
THE FORMER DEFENSE INVESTIGATOR TO 
TESTIFY AGAINST MR. PORTCH IN 
VIOLATION OF THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL, 
REVIEW IS REQUIRED. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2). 

1. An accused person has the right to the effective 

assistance of counsel. A criminal defendant has the constitutional right to 

the effective assistance of counsel in a criminal proceeding. Gideon v. 

Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344-45, 83 S.Ct. 792,9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963); 

Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 68, 53 S.Ct. 55,77 L.Ed. 158 (1932); 

U.S. Const. Am. VI; art.I, sec. 22. "The right to counsel plays a crucial 

role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since 

access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants 

the 'ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution' to which they 

are entitled." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 

2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) (quoting Adams v. United States ex rel. 

McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 275, 276, 63 S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268 (1942)). 

The effectuation of this right imposes a duty to fully investigate known 

potential defenses, and where necessary, to retain qualified experts to 

assist in the preparation of that defense. See, ~' In re Personal Restraint 

Petition ofBrett, 142 Wn.2d 868, 880, 16 P.3d 601 (2001) (counsel 
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ineffective for failing to investigate and retain experts for potential mental 

defense). 

Because Mr. Portch's first attorney was constitutionally required to 

thoroughly investigate his defense, the product of that investigation is an 

essential part of the attorney's representation of Mr. Portch. RP 124-25 

(Director of Snohomish County PDA argues that investigator stands in 

"position of a lawyer" as far as confidential communications with client 

and work product created for defense counsel). 

A "prosecutor's intentional intrusion into the attorney-client 

relationship constitutes a direct interference with the Sixth Amendment 

rights of a defendant." State v. Garza, 99 Wn. App. 291, 299, 994 P .3d 

868 (2000) (citing Shillinger v. Haworth, 70 F.3d 1132, 1142 (lOth Cir. 

1995)). Although Garza discussed jail staffs seizure of the legal materials 

of pre-trial inmates, its logic is applicable here to the intrusion upon Mr. 

Portch's confidential relationship with, and materials created by, the 

defense investigator. 

2. The trial court violated the attorney-client privilege by 

permitting Joel Martin to testify for the State. Because Mr. Martin was the 

defense investigator for Mr. Portch's original defense counsel, it was a 

violation of privilege for the court to order him to testify for the 

prosecution during its case in chief. 
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In Washington, the attorney-client privilege is codified in RCW 

5.60.060(2)? The privilege exists in order to allow the client to 

communicate freely with an attorney without fear of compulsory discovery. 

Dietz v. Doe, 131 Wn.2d 835, 842,935 P.2d 611 (1997) (citing State ex rel. 

Sowers v. Olwell, 64 Wn.2d 828, 832, 394 P.2d 681 (1964); Pappas v. 

Holloway, 114 Wn.2d 198,203, 787 P.2d 30 (1990)). The privilege applies 

to communications and advice between an attorney and client and extends to 

documents that contain a privileged communication. Dietz, 131 Wn.2d at 

842 (citing Pappas, 114 Wn.2d at 203). The attorney-client privilege 

operates independently of the work product rule and vice versa. 5 A K. 

Tegland, Wash.Prac., Evidence§ 501.9, at 145 (5th ed. 2007). 

Joel Martin, in his capacity as defense investigator, was privy to 

confidential attorney-client communications during Snohomish County 

PDA's representation of Mr. Portch. RP 123-24, 154, 169-72. Mr. Martin 

conducted his investigation, prepared reports, and interviewed witnesses 

as a result of these privileged conversations with both Mr. Portch and with 

prior defense counsel. RP 150-72. His testimony was a direct result of 

this privilege, and therefore, it was a violation of the attorney-client 

2 RPC 1.6(a) also preserves a client's confidences and secrets: "A lawyer shall 
not reveal confidences or secrets relating to representation of a client unless the client 
consents after consultation except for disclosures that are impliedly authorized in order to 
carry out representation." 
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privilege for the trial court to require its disclosure. See, ~. Dietz, 131 

Wn.2d at 842. 

For example, during his testimony, Mr. Martin was asked by the 

deputy prosecutor if he knew why one of the body shop employees was 

initially subpoenaed by the defense team. RP 154. Although Mr. Portch 

promptly objected, arguing that this question directly related to 

conversations concerning trial strategy, the trial court allowed the 

question. Id. The trial court also permitted the State to introduce exhibits 

and testimony through Mr. Martin concerning Mr. Portch's odometer 

reading during the State's direct examination, although Mr. Portch had not 

put the odometer reading at issue. RP 156-62, 171-72.3 

Finally, the court permitted the jury to hear unduly prejudicial 

information concerning Mr. Portch's claim that his attorney had instructed 

him to get the body shop estimate deleted - an event that the court itself had 

warned would "undercut[] everybody's credibility on the defense side." RP 

29. The prosecutor first attempted to elicit this information from Mr. Martin 

by asking him the date he "was no longer the investigator on this case." RP 

169. Defense counsel objected, reminding the court at sidebar that the fact 

that the public defender's office had been removed from the case was a "can 

3 The Supreme Court has held, concerning the related but independent work 
product doctrine, that the State is entitled to discovery in order to rebut certain defenses. 
See State v. Pawlyk 115 Wn.2d 457,475, 800 P.2d 338 (1990). The work product 
doctrine was addressed separately on direct appeal. 
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.. 

ofworms we didn't want to open." RP 184. The prosecutor elicited this 

information from other witnesses, asking the body shop owner why Mr. 

Portch had asked for the estimate's deletion. RP 226-29. 

The Court of Appeals found that Mr. Martin's testimony focused 

primarily on his own actions in investigating the estimate and mileage 

issues, and did not reveal any direct or implicit communications between 

Mr. Portch and defense counsel. Opinion at 7. The Court held that under 

the circumstances, Mr. Martin's testimony did not violate the attorney-client 

privilege or the right to counsel. Id. However, the presence of the defense 

investigator did, indeed, open the "can of worms" alluded to by new defense 

counsel - the fact that the evidence tampering had actually been encouraged 

by prior defense counsel, and that this had necessitated that change in 

representation. RP 184, 226-29. Mr. Martin's testimony was highly 

prejudicial to Mr. Portch, and it was error for the trial court to allow it, as a 

violation of attorney-client privilege and the right to counsel. Dietz, 131 

Wn.2d at 842; RCW 5.60.060(2). 

Because Mr. Martin's testimony arose from confidential 

communications made between himself and Mr. Portch, in the course of his 

professional employment with the Snohomish County PDA, and because 

Mr. Portch did not consent to his testimony, Mr. Martin's testimony violated 

attorney-client privilege and the right to counsel. RCW 5.60.060(2). 
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Accordingly, because the Court of Appeals decision affirming the 

conviction is in conflict with decisions of this Court and with decisions of the 

Court of Appeals, relief should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Portch respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to 

RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2).