#### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 21, 2013, 2:29 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAN

NO. 89528-7

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

٧.

JORDAN J. PORTCH,

**Appellant** 

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333



## **

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State relies on the statement of the case set out in the State's response brief filed in the Court of Appeals and the Court of Appeals opinion filed September 30, 2013. (WL 5503664 2013)

#### II. ARGUMENT

# A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DID NOT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS FROM THIS COURT OR OTHER APPELLATE COURTS.

The defendant argued that his right to counsel was violated when the State was allowed to present testimony from his former attorney's defense investigator to prove a charge of tampering with evidence and to rebut the alibi defense. Specifically he argued that the investigator's testimony violated his right to attorney client privilege. The Court of Appeals rejected that argument because the investigator's testimony confidential did not reveal anv communications between attorney and client. Slip opinion at 7. The Court of Appeals opinion is consistent with cases decided by this Court and other appellate courts regarding the extent and application of the privilege.

"An attorney or counselor shall not, without the consent of his or her client, be examined as to any communication made by the client to him or her, or his or her advice given thereon in the course of professional employment." RCW 5.60.060(2). The privilege applies to communications and advice between an attorney and client and extends to documents that contain privileged communications. <u>State v. Perrow</u>, 156 Wn App. 322, 328, 231 P.3d 853 (2010).

The privilege only applies to communications that are intended to be confidential. <u>Seattle Northwest Securities</u>

<u>Corporation v. SDG Holding Co., Inc.,</u> 61 Wn. App. 725, 742, 812

P.2d 488 (1991). When a communication is intended to be disclosed to others it is not protected by the attorney client privilege. <u>State v. Sullivan,</u> 60 Wn.2d 214, 217-18, 373 P.2d 474 (1962). When a party offers otherwise privileged communication as evidence the privilege is waived as to the entire communication. <u>State v. Webbe,</u> 122 Wn. App. 683, 691, 94 P.3d 994 (2004). Further, when a client reveals a communication between himself and his attorney to a third person the privilege is waived unless the third person is necessary for the communication. <u>Zink v. City of Mesa,</u> 162 Wn. App. 688, 725, 256 P.3d 384 (2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1010 (2012).

Before trial the defendant's first attorney notified the prosecutor that the defendant would rely on an alibi defense. In

support of that defense counsel informed the deputy prosecutor that he would call several witness, including Mr. Scott Hardy and the defense investigator Mr. Joel Martin. Defense counsel told the deputy prosecutor that part of the defense would be supported by mileage readings on the defendant's odometer taken before and after the burglary. The readings were intended to demonstrate the car had not been driven sufficient miles for it to be the car seen by a witness in the area at the time of the burglary. The deputy prosecutor investigated the defense and learned that the defendant had made statements to Mr. Hardy's employer regarding destruction of an estimate used to establish the odometer reading before the burglary. 1 CP 68-71.

Mr. Martin testified at trial that he was assigned to investigate the case in May 2011. He stated that he understood the asserted defense was going to be an alibi defense. He testified regarding the preparation and service of a subpoena on Mr. Hardy and the reason why he did that. Mr. Martin identified a portion of a repair estimate for the defendant's car which he had seen previously. Mr. Martin testified about what he actions he took to investigate the odometer readings on the defendant's car, and the

distance between the defendant's home, the body shop, and the victim's home. 1 RP 149-172.

The defendant argues that his attorney client privilege was violated when the State was permitted to elicit testimony regarding why Mr. Hardy was listed as a witnesses in the defense case. Petition at 9. He claims that merely calling the defense investigator without his prior consent was itself a violation of his attorney client privilege. Petition at 10.

The defendant cites no authority for the proposition that a privileged communication remains privileged until he consents to its disclosure at trial, even if he has previously disclosed that communication before trial. Cases which have discussed the privilege have not placed this kind of restriction on it. Rather the cases indicate that once the communication has been disclosed the privilege is waived. Kammerer v. Western Gear Corp., 96 Wn.2d 416, 420, 635 P.2d 708 (1981). "[S]uch a waiver cannot be delayed until the trial itself." Id.

Mr. Martin's testimony regarding why Mr. Hardy had been listed as a witness had already been voluntarily disclosed when the defendant, through counsel, informed the prosecutor that he would be asserting an alibi defense, listed Mr. Hardy as witness, and

supplied a copy of the repair estimate. For that same reason no privilege had been violated when a copy of the repair estimate was introduced. It did not matter that the defendant had not put the odometer reading at issue, because he still asserted the alibi defense. The disclosure occurred before trial and therefore waived any kind of privilege that would have attached to that document.

Additionally, most of what Mr. Martin testified to related to what he did, and not his communications with the defense attorney. Thus, his testimony was not protected by attorney client privilege. Any privilege that arguably attached to testimony regarding the nature of the defense was waived when the defense gave the prosecution notice of intent to assert that defense, and then provided the prosecutor with a witness list and evidence to support that defense.

The defendant also relies on evidence that he characterizes as "unduly prejudicial information concerning Mr. Portch's claim that his attorney had instructed him to get the body shop estimate deleted" to argue that his attorney client privilege had been violated. Whether that evidence should or should not have been introduced on the basis that it was too prejudicial is assessed under ER 403, not the attorney client privilege.

The defendant's citation to the record regarding evidence that Mr. Portch acted on his attorney's instructions relates to a motion to withdraw made by the defendant's first attorney. 1 RP 29. The trial court's comments reflected an understanding that the new information put that attorney in an untenable position which justified granting the motion to substitute counsel. The actual testimony on this point came from Mr. Hedahl, the owner of the body shop. He testified that the defendant insisted on deleting the estimate, because he was instructed to do so by his attorney. 2 RP 227-229. This evidence shows the defendant himself disclosed that communication. It was therefore not protected by any privilege.

Finally the defendant supports his argument by citation to <a href="State v. Garza">State v. Garza</a>, 99 Wn. App. 291, 994 P.3d 868 (2000). Petition at 7. He states that "a 'prosecutor's intentional intrusion into the attorney-client relationship constitutes direct interference with the Sixth amendment right of a defendant." Id. at 299, quoting <a href="Shillinger v. Haworth">Shillinger v. Haworth</a>, 70 F.3d 1132, 1142 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995) He states that the logic in that case applies here, but fails to address the Court of Appeals analysis rejecting this case a support for his position. <a href="Garza">Garza</a> differs from this case because there the

defendants did not voluntarily disclose their legal materials to the jail guards. <u>Id</u>. at 293-94. Here all the evidence that was introduced was disclosed pre-trial to the prosecutor. In addition, this Court rejected the contention that the attorney-client privilege is part of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel. <u>State v. Pawlyk</u>, 115 Wn.2d 457, 469, 800 P.2d 338 (1990). Thus, he fails to show how the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with either a decision of this Court or decision of the Court of Appeals.

#### III. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with a case from the Court of Appeals or this Court. The petition for review should be denied.